THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001909

RECEIVED

Aug 21 2020

SC Court of Appeals

The State,Respondent,

v.

Dana L. Morton,Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

E. Charles Grose, Jr.
S.C. Bar Number 66063
The Grose Law Firm, LLC
404 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 538-4466
(864) 538-4405 (fax)
Email: charles@groselawfirm.com

Attorney for Appellant Dana Morton

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Question I

Did the trial judge err, in violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution, by requiring Dana Morton to represent himself when Mr. Morton did not affirmatively waive his right to counsel and the trial judge did not warn Mr. Morton about the dangers of self-representation as required by *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 807 (1975)?

Question II

Did the trial judge err, in violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution, by failing to appoint a public defender to represent Dana Morton when the undisputed evidence demonstrated Mr. Morton could not afford an attorney and he was prepared to proceed to trial?

Question III

Did the trial judge err by overruling Dana Morton's objection to prosecution witnesses testifying that George Vaughn was a "reliable" confidential informant when such testimony constituted impermissible vouching for the credibility of the informant?

Question IV

Did the trial judge err, in violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution, by denying Dana Morton his rights to confront and cross-examine George Vaughn about his prior adjudicated drug charges when that evidence was permissible impeachment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Dana Morton with possession with intent to distribute marijuana and trafficking cocaine for an incident occurring on February 2, 2017. R. 1074-79.

On October 15, 2018, the State called Mr. Morton's case to trial before the Honorable Roger L. Couch and a jury. R. 9. Allison M. Mabbs and Russell D. Ghent, both of the Seventh Circuit Solicitor's Office, represented the State. William G. Yarborough, III represented Mr. Morton. Mr. Morton moved to relieve Mr. Yarborough as counsel and to appoint a public defender. Judge Couch granted the motion to relieve Mr. Yarborough

but denied the motion to appoint a public defender. Judge Couch, nevertheless, appointed Clay T. Allen, the Seventh Circuit Defender, as a legal advisor for Mr. Morton. R. 9-34, 42-43.

From October 15-19, 2018, the State tried Mr. Morton before Judge Couch and a jury. Ms. Mabbs and Mr. Ghent continued to represent the State. Solicitor Barry Barnette made a special appearance during a bench conference to argue a motion on behalf of the State. On October 19, 2019, the jurors convicted Mr. Morton of possession with intent to distribute marijuana and trafficking cocaine. R. 1038. Judge Couch sentenced Mr. Morton to concurrent sentences of ten years imprisonment for possession with intent to distribute marijuana and twenty-five years imprisonment for trafficking cocaine. R. 1080-81.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Introduction.

Spartanburg County Sherriff Office Investigator Anthony Lachia caught George Vaughn selling illegal drugs. Rather than charging Mr. Vaugh, Investigator Lachia and Investigator Dan Swad recruited Mr. Vaughn to be a confidential informant. R. 92. On February 2, 2017, Investigators Lachia and Swad used Mr. Vuahgn to arrange to buy cocaine and marijuana from Dana Morton, which was videotaped. However, the informant was not on camera the entire time. R. 266, 855-56, 1013. As will be discussed in detail below, Mr. Morton consistently maintained the cocaine was not real.¹

¹ Mr. Morton informed the trial judge he would accept a charge for selling fake drugs. R. 694.

Investigators Lachia and Swad allowed Mr. Morton to leave the incident location. Other Officers of the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office conducted a traffic stop and arrested Mr. Morton. The traffic stop and arrest should have been captured by the officers' dash cameras, but the prosecution never produced the videotape. R. 778, 787-89, 797-800.

Investigator Lachia took the alleged drugs to the Narcotics Office, which is at a secret location, where he purportedly conducted a presumptive test to determine if the evidence was, in fact, illegal drugs. R. 863-67. Holly Tobias testified about testing the cocaine and marijuana. R. 557-600.

B. The Discovery Violation.

When the Solicitor called this case for trial, Dana Morton raised an issue about discovery, which appeared to him to involve "falsified documents" because

those papers [were] not a part of the original file of my *Brady* motion, and, when we suppose to come to court the last time, all of a sudden they appeared. And, like I told him, with the *Brady* motion, they have a mandate,² and they have a page number. This doesn't have [a] mandate or a page number.

R. 11-12, 15-17 (footnote added).

The trial judge inquired whether the prosecutor received a Rule 5, SCRCrimP request for information. The Solicitor confirmed the State received a discovery request and served its initial production of discovery in April 2017 and the drug analysis report in August 2017. The Solicitor, however, acknowledged that, because "this is a case involving an informant, we didn't turn over that information initially." Before he was relieved, trial counsel confirmed the prosecution "didn't want to show [Mr. Morton] the video until [he]

² By using the term "mandate," Mr. Morton was "referring to the initial discovery that was provided that has a date stamp that the Solicitor's Office adds to it." R. 122-23.

had turned down the initial officer.”³ When trial counsel discussed the prosecution’s offer with Mr. Morton, the Solicitor had provided only “still” images of the videotape of the drug buy. Trial counsel reviewed with Mr. Morton the chain of custody of the drug evidence available to them “at that point.” After Mr. Morton turned down the offer, trial counsel “got the rest of the chain of custody” of the drug evidence. R. 17-22. The trial judge ruled, “I’ve not heard that [trial counsel] withheld anything from you *that the State gave him.*” R. 24 (emphasis added).

C. Denial of Counsel.

When the State called his case to trial, Dana Morton informed the trial judge, “I would like to remove my lawyer from my case” because he had “a strong belief” his lawyer was “in cahoots with the State Solicitor” to persuade him to accept a guilty plea that would take him away from his family. R. 16. Trial counsel acknowledged he might have been “harsh with [Mr. Morton] about the possibility of taking a plea.” R. 28.

³ The complete videotape of the alleged drug buy and information about the confidential informant allegedly participating in the hand-to-hand transaction are evidence the Solicitor is required to produce pursuant to Rule 5, SCRCrimP, *Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, (1995), *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, (1963), *Roviaro v. U.S.*, 353 U.S. 53 (1957), *Riddle v. Ozmint*, 369 S.C. 39, 631 S.E.2d 70 (2006), *State v. Diamond*, 280 S.C. 296, 312 S.E.2d 550 (1984), *State v. Blyther*, 287 S.C. 31, 336 S.E.2d 151 (Ct. App. 1985), *State v. Burns*, 294 S.C. 338, 364 S.E.2d 465 (1988), and *State v. Hinson*, 293 S.C. 406, 361 S.E.2d 120 (1987). *See also* Memorandum from Chief Justice Jean Hoefler Toal to All Solicitors dated March 1, 2004 stating the practice “offering plea agreements to defendants on the condition they forgo discovery . . . is going to have adverse consequences in the future,” and opining “it is unethical to premise a plea agreement on the defendant relinquishing the right to discovery in criminal cases. *See* Rule 3.4, RLDE, Rule 407, SCACR.” Suppl. R. 1.

Office George Gibbs of the Spartanburg County Sheriff’s Office testified about a separate discovery violation—a dashboard camera video of Mr. Morton’s arrest that was destroyed before it could be produced in discovery. R. 755, 764-66; *see also* testimony of Officer Donnie Gilbert, R. 797-800.

The trial judge misconstrued the request to relieve counsel as an indication Mr. Morton “might wish to no longer be represented by an attorney,” R. 14, and explained:

I understand that you feel like that you want to present some type of defense, and I understand that too. We’re here to give you that chance. The issue becomes whether or not you do so with or without an attorney.

Now, the law says that you have the right to an attorney, but you also have the right not to proceed to have an attorney. If you wish to fire your lawyer, then there has to be just cause for you firing that lawyer. Otherwise, if there’s not just cause for you firing the lawyer, I can require you to go ahead to court without an attorney. And, so far, what you’ve told me, he did what he was supposed to do.

So, if you want to fire him, you can, but my ruling, at this point in time, would be you can fire your lawyer, but you’re gonna go to trial today either way.

Now, the ball is in your court.

R. 24-25.

Mr. Morton objected because requiring him to proceed without counsel would be to “railroad” him. He argued, “[I]f I could get a public defender, five minutes, ten minutes where I could prepare a case, . . . that would be fine with me.” R. 25. The trial judge denied Mr. Morton’s request for a public defender, ruling:

You say you want a public defender, but you’ve paid him – paid for an attorney already. So, I mean I don’t think you’re gonna get a public defender. You’re not gonna qualify.

Why should the State pay for an attorney when you can afford to pay an attorney?

R. 29.

Mr. Morton informed the trial court that his wife “took a loan so” he could pay trial counsel. He represented, “I don’t have any money, and I still owe Mr. Yarborough money now, and he knows this.” Trial counsel confirmed Mr. Morton “hired [him] with an initial

retainer, and was not able to pay after that.” R. 29-30. The trial judge did not further screen Mr. Morton for a public defender and ruled:

It seems to me, Mr. Morton, that I’ve have not heard a, a good reason why Mr. Yarborough should be fired. It appears to me that this is for the purpose of delaying the trial, and that will be my finding.

So I will allow you to proceed with the lawyer you that you have representing you or I’ll allow you, if you wish to fire him, and to go forward, but you would do so without a lawyer.

R. 30.

The details of the breakdown in the attorney-client relationship emerged when Mr. Morton called his former attorney as a witness during his case-in-chief. Counsel explained that Mr. Morton had three defenses: (1) “an entrapment defense,” (2) the “fake drug defense,” and (3) “mistreat[ment] by the police officers.” Mr. Morton immediately corrected his prior lawyer, “Now, mistreatment is not a defense when you done some wrong. So we can exclude that one.” Outside the presence of the jurors, Mr. Morton explained his prior lawyer tried “to feed [him] an entrapment” defense, but Mr. Morton “didn’t want that” defense. Mr. Morton explained, “It wasn’t real drugs.” R. 959-64. Prior counsel, in fact, refused to consider Mr. Morton’s fake drug defense. When Mr. Morton brought a package of fake drugs to his former counsel’s law office, counsel testified he told Mr. Morton, “I don’t know if those are drugs or not. I told you to get them out of my office.” R. 854-55.

Mr. Morton proceeded to trial without an attorney. The trial judge gave Mr. Morton “ten minutes” to meet with his former counsel to get his file materials. Despite the prior ruling that Mr. Morton did not qualify for the public defender, the trial judge appointed the

Chief Circuit Defender, Clay Allen, to be available to Mr. Morton “to ask questions of during” his self-representation. R. 30-34.

Mr. Morton was nervous throughout his trial, R. 20, 85, 652, believing he was “fighting for [his] life,” R. 120, 367, 368, 370. At the end of the second day of trial, Mr. Morton informed the trial judge he did not have an opportunity to prepare because the jail “hustle[d]” him into a holding cell with “no blanket, no bed,” meaning he had to “lay with [his] face on the floor all night.” The trial judge promised “to fix that” if possible. R. 367-78. That night, the detention center gave Mr. Morton “a small little pencil” and let him “sit in a room for about [] 12 minutes.” The Detention Center did not give him a bed until 2:30 in the morning, but, as Mr. Morton informed the trial judge, “[T]hey did more than what they did the previous day.” R. 383.

Mr. Morton’s self-representation impacted his ability to call witnesses in his defense because his prior counsel did not serve subpoenas in anticipation of trial. Mr. Morton requested all of the police officers that participated in the investigation to be available in court to testify as witnesses. The trial judge did not issue a subpoena for any of these police officer, and accepted law enforcement’s explanation for the absence of the witnesses. Even though Mr. Morton was detained during the trial, the trial judge required him to figure out how to request the Clerk of Court to issue the subpoenas and find a way to serve them. R. 118, 131-34, 379-82, 924-28. Mr. Morton also wanted to call Jake Bolan, a law student that had worked for Mr. Morton’s prior trial counsel, to testify as a witness. The trial judge issued a subpoena for Mr. Bolan, after he declined to appear voluntarily, but law enforcement was not able to serve it. R. 47, 108-09, 609-16, 704, 716. The trial judge noted “the case was up for trial twice before” and specifically found that the defense

“[s]hould of been prepared for trial” and “had subpoenas out to all these people already,” which would have been while Mr. Morton was represented by counsel. R. 917.

D. The “Reliable Confidential Informant.”

George Vaughn has been around illegal drugs since the 1980s and admitted to selling drugs for three years. R. 674. During his three years of selling drugs, Mr. Vaughn had a “favorite hiding spot” in his house. R. 688-89. After catching Mr. Vaughn selling illegal drugs, Investigator Anthony Lachica “chose not to charge him” and recruited him as a confidential informant. R. 92. During trial, the Solicitor asked Investigator Lachica:

Q. All right. And when you speak about informants, are there different – what would be the difference between a confidential informant and a confidential reliable informant?

A. Confidential informant would be somebody who has not worked with us before, and we don’t know if they are reliable, if they can actually do what they say they can do.

Q. And what would then a confidential reliable—

THE DEFENDANT: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

THE DEFENDANT: I would like for – I would like to object to the fact of they using the difference between confidential informant, and reliable confident informant because if they trying to take the informant and move them to reliable, he have previous and pending drug charges. His word cannot be accepted as reliable.

THE COURT: Well, sir, you have the right to cross-examine him later on that issue. I’ll give you the right to do so, but he has the right to testify as to how they term these people. You can look into whether or not you believe that to be true.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: So, at this time, I'll overrule the objection, objection, but I'll give you an opportunity to ask questions about it—

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT—at a later time. You may proceed, Ms. Mabbs.

SOLICITOR MABBS: Thank you, Your Honor. Investigator Lachica, can you explain again what, what would make somebody a confidential and reliable informant?

A. Confidential reliable informant is somebody who has – they start off as a, a confidential informant, and, once they've purchased drugs from us in the past or purchased drugs from us or for us, and it leads to the confiscation of illegal narcotics or substances by them doing what they say they were gonna do, and it being on video, audio, and we move them up slowly, but surely up the ladder to reliable to where we change it from confidential to confidential reliable informant.

R. 90-91.

The Solicitor asked, "Investigator Lachica, do you know George Vaughn?" Investigator Lachica explained that law enforcement caught Mr. Vaughn selling drugs but decided not to charge him with distribution of drugs if he could do controlled buys for a certain number of "bigger fish." Investigator Lachica testified Mr. Vaughn had completed "maybe three" controlled buys prior to his involvement in this case. He explained the procedures for controlled buys, including searching informants as "a C.Y.A. thing" for law enforcement. All of this testimony conveyed to the jurors that Mr. Vaughn met the criteria of "confidential reliable informant." R. 91-98.

Outside the presence of the jurors, Mr. Morton asked the trial judge to revisit the testimony of the officer that was "boasting about the informant." The trial judge ruled:

I overruled that objection. And what I said was that they have the right to use whatever phrasing or labels they wish to for that person, and than [sic] that's what they call them. That's standard police jargon for those people,

but I said you would be given an opportunity, and you will, to ask that witness about the reliability of that informant.

R. 143. The trial judge added, “And, and you’ll be given a chance to challenge whether or not that person, in fact, is a reliable informant. *Id.*”

In accordance with the trial judge’s ruling, Mr. Morton attempted to impeach the informant’s reliability through cross-examination. He questioned Investigator Lachica:

Q. So, with your honest opinion, you say you been an officer for over 28 years, right?

A. That’s correct.

Q. Okay. So, with your under subpoena, would you put your hard earned career on the line stating that Mr. – the drug dealer, Mr. Vaughn, would be – would you put your career up saying that he wouldn’t make a deal behind your back one or two times without you knowing it?

A. Absolutely not.

Q. You wouldn’t put your career up, would you?

A. Absolutely not.

R. 157.

Mr. Morton questioned Mr. Vaughn about whether he would be insulted to be called a “confidential informant” rather than a “reliable confidential informant.” R. 295. Mr. Morton asked Investigator Dan Swad, who met Mr. Vaughn for the first time on the day of this undercover operation, “Meeting him that day, would you call him trustworthy?” Investigator Swad testified, “I consider him trustworthy.” R. 319-20. Later on, Mr. Morton further questioned Investigator Swad about the informant’s reliability:

Q. Okay. And would you bet your 37 years on the – saying that he, you know, that, that he’s reliable, and you only met him in the first day?

A. Sir, I don't bet.

Q. Well—

A. I won't answer that.

Q. What would be your – what would be your, your description of meeting someone in the same day, and having enough faith in them to say that, you know, that you can trust them?

A. I'd say the proof was in what happened.

R. 340.

Mr. Morton wanted to impeach Mr. Vaughn not only with his prior criminal record but also by questioning him about unadjudicated criminal acts. The trial judge considered the matter outside the presence of the jurors and ruled Mr. Morton could question Mr. Vaughn about a 2003 petit larceny conviction, a possession of a controlled substance conviction from 1989, an attempt to possess crack cocaine conviction from 1994, and a possession with intent to distribute cocaine conviction from 2015. R. 194-204.

On cross-examination by Mr. Morton, Mr. Vaughn admitted to working as an informant to “save” himself. Mr. Morton questioned the informant about the 1989 possession drugs conviction and the 1994 possession with intent to distribute cocaine charge. When Mr. Morton asked the informant, “So, how many charges would you say you had, Mr. Vaughn, that dealt with drugs?,” the Solicitor objected because the question was not limited to convictions. The trial judge addressed the objection outside the presence of the jurors. Mr. Morton explained he intended to question Mr. Vaughn about how many times he had been “caught.” The trial judge sustained the objection and explained,

“[G]enerally you’re not allowed to use non-convictions to try to attack someone's credibility.” R. 230-40.

During the State’s closing argument, the Solicitor argued the informant’s trustworthiness:

As far as the procedures go with searching the informants, that is standard police procedure. That is forever’s [sic] protection. That is for the protection of Mr. Morton because, as Investigator Lachica said when he was being examined by Mr. Morton and he was asking, you know, did you trust Mr. Vaughn, and he said well, trust comes at different levels. You can trust someone, but you still want to check and verify.

R. 1020.

E. Courtroom Demonstration Involving Fake Drugs.

After appointing Clay Allen as Dana Morton’s advisor, the trial judge asked Mr. Morton if he had “all the documents present that [he] need[ed] to proceed.” As part of his answer, Mr. Morton explained:

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