STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Aug 20 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2018-001909

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Dana L. Morton,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Further, his request to appoint a public defender was entirely unrealistic and would certainly have resulted in the exact delay the trial court found Appellant sought to create. He sought to appoint counsel and still proceed to trial on his own theory of defense in the case on the same day. As a matter of fact, he specifically asked for a public defender and "five minutes, ten minutes" to prepare the case. (T.25; R.25). Counsel could not be appointed to represent him and continue the same day on which trial was already scheduled.³ It would be entirely unfair to subject

³ Requiring a public defender or other appointed attorney to take the case, obtain the case file and all discovery, meet with his client for the first time, and proceed to trial without any delay would be guaranteeing a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

an attorney to trial the day he is appointed on a new case, and Appellant's counsel would be insisting on the horror of the situation had it occurred. Otherwise, the trial court was entirely correct that the ultimate goal of Appellant's actions was delay, and appointing counsel—instead of requiring Appellant to proceed with current counsel who was ready to go forward or act pro se—would only give Appellant the delay he sought.

In addition, pursuant to section 17-3-30 of the South Carolina code, Appellant must provide an affidavit of indigency which would be required to be screened for accuracy and to ensure Appellant met the requirements for appointed representation. Appellant did not come to court with an affidavit, so one would have to be completed, screened, and approved before trial could proceed. Additionally, pursuant to Rule 608(b)(4), SCACR, there is no presumption of indigency without reference to Appellant's family's net income, which is entirely absent from this Record. As a matter of fact, nothing in this record establishes the entitlement to a public defender or appointed counsel.

Given Appellant's last minute request, which was specifically found by the trial court to be a tactic to cause delay, the trial court did not err in denying Appellant's unrealistic request to appoint a public defender, while still proceeding to trial without delay.

III. Did the reference by the investigator to a reliable confidential informant impermissibly vouch for the informant's credibility?

Appellant contends the trial court erred in allowing reference to a “confidential reliable informant” versus a “confidential informant” during Investigator Lachica’s testimony. He maintains it was impermissible bolstering. Investigator Lachica merely explained the terminology used by law enforcement and never labeled the informant, George Vaughn, as “reliable.” Any error in referencing the terms was entirely harmless as the only person who discussed the term “reliable” as it related to Vaughn was Appellant.⁴

Standard of Review

The admission or exclusion of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law. State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 540 S.E.2d 464 (2000). “A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.” State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). “Prejudice occurs when there is reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury's verdict.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011).

⁴ It is questionable whether the underlying issue as raised on appeal is preserved for review. The issue raised at trial is that it was improper to call Vaughn reliable because he had other charges pending and not that the use of the term impermissibly bolstered his testimony. (T.112-114; R.89-91). Later, Appellant discussed bragging which could be construed as impermissible bolstering, but that objection was not contemporaneous. (T.165-166; R.142-143). See e.g., State v. Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. 609, 617, 690 S.E.2d 565, 570 (2010) (“For an issue to be properly preserved it has to be raised to and ruled on by the trial court.”); See State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 609 S.E.2d 520 (2005) (to preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court); State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (holding a defendant may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal).

Merits

As this Court has stated:

Generally, the prohibition against bolstering is for the purpose of preventing a witness from testifying whether another witness is telling the truth and to maintain “the assessment of witness credibility . . . within the exclusive province of the jury.” State v. McKerley, 397 S.C. 461, 464, 725 S.E.2d 139, 141 (Ct. App. 2012).

State v. Taylor, 404 S.C. 506, 514, 745 S.E.2d 124, 128 (Ct. App. 2013).

Investigator Lachica was asked to differentiate between a “confidential informant” and a “confidential reliable informant.” He merely described the terms and what someone had to do to be considered a “confidential reliable informant.” In doing so, he never made reference to Vaughn, the informant in this case, nor did he indicate that he believed Vaughn to be a “confidential reliable informant.” Instead, he merely explained the terminology used by law enforcement. Investigator Lachica never indicated his belief Vaughn was telling the truth or testified in any manner that would remove the determination of credibility from the province of the jury. As a result, nothing in his direct testimony resulted in bolstering or vouching for Vaughn’s testimony.

Additionally, any possible error is entirely harmless. Appellant during his cross-examination of Vaughn asked him: “So, if the police officer referred to you as a C.I., would that be a form of disrespect to you knowing that you’re reliable?” After Vaughn answered: “No”, Appellant followed up with “You just being a C.I. instead of reliable C.I.?” (T.318; R.341). This is the first time reliable was used in front of the jury in direct connection with Vaughn and it was by Appellant.

The next time “reliable” was mentioned was after Appellant recalled Investigator Lachica.

Q: So, so, you say you knew him for how many years, sir?

A: Probably two or three now.

Q. About two or three now. And two or three years, would you consider him to be acquaintance or friend or family member?

A. He's a confidential reliable informant.

(T.878; R.901). This testimony came in without any objection and in direct response to Appellant's questioning. The complained of testimony is entirely cumulative to testimony elicited and discussed by Appellant during his own questioning of multiple witnesses. See State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003) (admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence.); State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) (any error in admission of evidence cumulative to other unobjected to evidence is harmless). Additionally, any error is entirely harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence in this case and the fact it could not have contributed to the outcome of the case.⁵ See State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 518, 633 S.E.2d 152, 156 (2006) (Error is considered harmless where it could not reasonably have affected the outcome of the trial.); State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 212, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006) ("Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained."); State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (Ct. App. 1996) (stating that error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict).

The trial court properly allowed Investigator Lachica to explain law enforcement terminology, especially when he never indicated his belief that Appellant was "reliable" until the question was asked by Appellant. Further, Appellant has failed to establish any prejudice resulting from the error sufficient to warrant reversal. This Court should affirm the trial court's decision.

⁵ State's Exhibit 1 is a video recording detailing the undercover buy conducted by law enforcement and the confidential informant, Vaughn. (State's Exhibit 1). Further, significant testimony indicated the drugs received were real and not synthetic as alleged by Appellant in his defense. The bag contained 111.76 grams of cocaine. (T.593; R.570). Additionally, a digital scale found with Appellant when he was arrested tested positive for cocaine residue. (T.598; R.575). Additionally, the other substance obtained from Appellant tested positive for marijuana. (T.604; 607; R.581; 584).

IV. Did the trial court properly limit Appellant's cross-examination of the informant related to unadjudicated drug charges?

Appellant contends the trial court erred in preventing Appellant from cross-examining the informant Vaughn regarding unconvicted drug charges. He maintains it shows bias and a motive to misrepresent, likening the questioning to cases when the defendant should have been allowed to explore potential charges for a testifying co-defendant who had a deal to testify. The issue is not preserved for review, and there is no evidence any of the unadjudicated charges were ones related to his acting as an informant in this case in order to show bias or a motive to misrepresent. Further, Appellant thoroughly explored Vaughn's past drug issues, including discussions of prior purchases from Appellant. Finally, during direct examination by the State it was made clear to the jury that drug charges were dropped in exchange for Vaughn acting as an informant.

Preservation

Initially, the issue as raised to this Court is not preserved for review. Appellant at trial brought up several charges that did not result in conviction and the State objected saying he could only address prior convictions. The Court addressed the objection and admission of the evidence pursuant to Rule 609, SCRE. He never was asked to consider Rule 608(c), SCRE, the issue of bias or motive to misrepresent. Appellant never connected his questioning about the charged crimes to an allegation of motive to misrepresent or bias. As a result, the issue as raised is not preserved for review on appeal. See State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (holding a defendant may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal).

Further, Appellant never proffered any information about the charges he sought to use in cross-examination, so the Record is devoid of information regarding when the charges occurred, what Vaughn was actually charged with, and whether any were actually dropped as a result of the

deal with law enforcement to act as an informant in this case. Because there is no proffer, there is nothing for this Court to review to determine prejudice from the failure to be able to admit the testimony. See State v. Santiago, 370 S.C. 153, 163, 634 S.E.2d 23, 29 (Ct. App. 2006) (“[A] proffer of testimony is required to preserve the issue of whether testimony was properly excluded by the trial judge, and an appellate court will not consider error alleged in the exclusion of testimony unless the record on appeal shows fairly what the excluded testimony would have been.”) (citing State v. Roper, 274 S.C. 14, 20, 260 S.E.2d 705, 708 (1979); State v. King, 367 S.C. 131, 136, 623 S.E.2d 865, 868 (Ct. App. 2005)).

Standard of Review

As discussed previously: “A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.” Kelley, 319 S.C. at 176, 460 S.E.2d at 370. “Prejudice occurs when there is reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury’s verdict.” Byers, 392 S.C. at 444, 710 S.E.2d at 58. “The trial judge retains discretion to impose reasonable limits on the scope of cross-examination.” State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 331, 563 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2002). “If the defendant establishes he was unfairly prejudiced by the limitation, it is reversible error.” Id. “This Court will not disturb a trial court’s ruling concerning the scope of cross-examination of a witness to test his or her credibility, or to show possible bias or self-interest in testifying, absent a manifest abuse of discretion.” State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 371, 731 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012).

Merits

“The Sixth Amendment rights to notice, confrontation, and compulsory process guarantee that a criminal charge may be answered through the calling and interrogation of favorable witnesses, the cross-examination of adverse witnesses, and the orderly introduction of evidence.”

State v. Graham, 314 S.C. 383, 385, 444 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1994) (quoting State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 402 (1986)). “A defendant has the right to cross-examine a witness concerning bias under the Confrontation Clause.” Mizzell, 349 S.C. at 331, 563 S.E.2d at 317 (citing Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308 (1974)). “A defendant demonstrates a Confrontation Clause violation when he is prohibited from ‘engaging in otherwise appropriate cross-examination designed to show a prototypical form of bias . . . from which jurors . . . could draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness.’” Gracely, 399 S.C. at 372, 731 S.E.2d at 885 (quoting State v. Stokes, 381 S.C. 390, 401–02, 673 S.E.2d 434, 439 (2009)).

Additionally, Rule 608(c), SCRE, provides that “bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.” Rule 608(c) “preserves South Carolina precedent holding that generally, ‘anything having a legitimate tendency to throw light on the accuracy, truthfulness, and sincerity of a witness may be shown and considered in determining the credit to be accorded his testimony.’ ” State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001) (quoting State v. Brewington, 267 S.C. 97, 226 S.E.2d 249 (1976)).

In the instant case, neither Appellant at trial nor his counsel on appeal have attempted to connect the proposed cross-examination into charged by unadjudicated crimes to the current case and a claim of bias or prejudice. He indicates the questioning would have explored the charges and potential sentences he avoided by working for law enforcement as a confidential informant. However, he never indicates any of those charges were dropped by being an informant in the case against Appellant. He never indicates when any of the charges occurred. As a result, he did not provide a sufficient connection to establish bias or motive to misrepresent and instead, at best, was seeking to pursue a fishing expedition or relying entirely on rank speculation.

In addition, the State thoroughly explored Vaughn's convictions and deals made to act as an informant during their direct examination. Testimony revealed he had serious trafficking charges previously, but he was allowed to plead to a lesser offense and receive a probationary sentence. (T.229-230; R.206-207). Additionally, he was asked whether he had any pending charges or whether he was promised anything in exchange for his testimony, and he indicated: "No, ma'am." (T.230; R.207). In exchange for working as an informant against Appellant, he indicated on direct examination and on re-direct that charges would be dropped and the solicitor clarified that arrest warrants would not be served. (T. 232; 322-323; R.209; 299-300). As a result, any further cross-examination by Appellant, even if he connected it to the charges that were dropped in exchange for Vaughn becoming an informant against Appellant, would have been merely cumulative and would not have provided any additional impeachment for bias. As a result, he has failed to prove how he was prejudicially prevented from questioning Vaughn.

Finally, during Appellant's cross-examination of Vaughn he brought out significant impeachment. He asked if Vaughn had ever been an informant "for free" and Vaughn admitted he had not. Appellant asked: "So, every time you basically did this with them, it was to basically say for money or to save your own self." Vaughn admitted that was true. (T.255; R.232). Appellant brought out Vaughn's 1989 crack charges, and got Vaughn to admit at the time he was a "crackhead."

Accordingly, the issue is clearly not preserved for review on appeal and Appellant has failed to demonstrate any prejudice resulting from the trial court's ruling. As a result, this Court should affirm the trial court's decision.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.